
Journal Redesign Revisited – February 2012 
 
 
From: Teresa Brinati [mailto:tbrinati@archivists.org]  
Sent: Thursday, April 14, 2011 4:16 PM 
To: American Archivist Editorial Board List 
Subject: [aa-edboard] Journal Redesign in Progress 

 

Dear Editorial Board Members- 

Mary Jo requested that I bring you up to speed on the status of the redesign for American Archivist. 
Attached please find the latest version of the front cover and the interior pages.  
 
We are generally pleased with the cover concept, which provides spatial harmony between the 
area for the nameplate and area for the image. The nameplate uses the Dinot font and stacks the 
title, placing “THE AMERICAN” on the bold shoulders of “ARCHIVIST.” Given the broader readership 
the journal is now experiencing, together with more international appeal of the content, the 
emphasis through graphic design is on “archivist.” The “volume/number/date” along the top right 
provides a counter-balance to “published by” in the lower left corner of the nameplate. What’s new 
is the addition of a new url that will shortly direct readers to the journal area on SAA’s website. It’s 
designed to be a bridge between the print and digital facsimile edition. 
 
The interior pages are a work-in-progress. Here are some things to note: 
 

 The first page in the PDF is the inside front cover. The information has been re-organized 
and now emphasizes the folks responsible for bringing you the content (Editor, Reviews 
Editors, Editorial Board). It’s too crowded as is. The General Info, Communications, and 
Copyright sections need to be reworked so that there is enough room for “About the Cover” 
text. Only “essential” info will appear on the front cover. Info that was there in the previous 
design: if nonessential, it will be removed; if of secondary importance, it will be included in 
the back of the book. 
 

 Next up is the table of contents. Page references have shifted to the left side of articles 
(formerly on the right) for ease of reference. The authors’ names are still too small. Don’t 
think the copyright info needs to appear at the bottom of this page if it’s able to fit on the 
inside front cover. 

 
 After that is Paul Conway’s article, “Modes of Seeing,” from the Fall/Winter AA, which is 

being used as the “design guinea pig” (and appropriately so, since the redesign is, in 
essence, a new mode of seeing ) The article fonts are Caecilia (subheads) and Swift (body). 
Swift is a thicker font than the Garamond currently being used, and according to Mary Jo’s 
eyes, it is much easier to read.  

 

 The article opening now centers the title and the author and abstract heading rather than 
left justifying this text. There is ample room for listing multi-authors. The proposed ideal 
length for an abstract is no more than 175 words. New on the chapter opening page is a 
Keywords section. This controlled vocabulary would be applied to the digital edition 
articles, from this point forward. (If it can be done retrospectively, it would make a great job 



for an intern.) The URL has been added to the footer. Page numbering is now part of the 
running head. 

 

 Article versos feature the author’s name in the running head and pertinent journal info in 
the footer. Article rectos feature the article title in the running head and pertinent journal 
info in the footer. The reason for this is to provide context and also for hijacked electronic 
text that winds up in course packs, so the reader’s no where it came from no matter what 
page they’re on. 

 
 To get a sense of the 3 different levels of subheads, please see page 435. 

 
 Page 434 contains a table. This is a larger format than previously used and includes shading 

and lines to enhance readability. 
 

 Perhaps the biggest change in the article presentation is the shift from footnotes to a Notes 
section at the end of the article (see page 460). This is partly a business decision that will 
save time and money in production. Besides that, there are benefits to aggregating this 
content together in a single section.  The author’s copyright notice has been added to this 
section. It should probably be 2 points larger and left justified with a space after. 

 
 The last item in each article section will be the “about the author” photo and text so that 

each article is complete in and of itself. The proposed length for the bio is 150 words max. 
The item as it currently appears needs a bit of reworking. 

 
That’s it in a nutshell. Your feedback is welcome.  
 
The redesign of the journal began in December and has progressed much more slowly than 
anticipated. Consequently, production of the spring/summer 2011 issue is delayed.  If the design 
can be nailed down by the end of this month, then there is a reasonable chance the next issue can be 
put to bed in June. 
 
As always, thank you! 
Teresa 

TERESA BRINATI 
Director of Publishing 
 
Society of American Archivists 
17 North State Street, Suite 1425 
Chicago, IL 60602-3315 USA 
Toll Free 866.SAA.7858 
Tel 312.606.0722   Fax 312.606.0728 
tbrinati@archivists.org 
Browse and buy archives titles at www.archivists.org/bookstore 
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FEEDBACK 
 

-----Original Message----- 
From: Cal Lee [mailto:callee@ils.unc.edu]  
Sent: Thursday, April 14, 2011 5:07 PM 
To: American Archivist Editorial Board List 
Subject: Re: [aa-edboard] Journal Redesign in Progress 
 
Thank you very much for sharing this, Teresa.  I think it looks great. 
 
My main suggestion would be to NOT include the URL at the bottom of each page.  I believe that header 
and footer information should be there to let people know basic citation information.  The URL isn't part 
of the citation, isn't a persistent identifier for the particular piece (not e.g. a DOI), and will not outlive 
the current web URL conventions.  If, for example, there is a new mechanism in ten years for 
disseminating the articles besides the web side, then the URLs will be outdated. 
 
In short, I think the period of use of the American Archivist article is going to far outlive the utility of the 
URL as an entry point for the journal (hopefully by decades if not centuries), so it's best not to embed it 
on every page. 
 
- Cal 
 
--------------------------------------- 
 
From: Landis, Bill [mailto:blandis@email.unc.edu]  
Sent: Thursday, April 14, 2011 5:25 PM 
To: American Archivist Editorial Board List 
Subject: Re: [aa-edboard] Journal Redesign in Progress 
 
T and all,  
 
Love the cover! 
 
Love the clean look, much more readable text font, and the elegant combination of serif and sans serif 
fonts. 
 
Love the way the tables and illustrations look. 
 
Hate the relegation of footnotes to endnotes. I know this is a "business decision," but I wonder if it is 
one we can revisit? Just how much of a contributor are footnotes to the overall cost of producing the 
journal? I think it is a mistake, detracts from the importance of these notes/citations, and just generally 
will make the American Archivist a pain in the ass to read (like JAO, which I hate reading specifically for 
this reason). If we were doing this in an online version where you could hover over the note # and see 
the text of the note, this wouldn't be a problem, but if we're continuing to provide a print copy of the 
journal, and making aesthetic decisions primarily based on production of that print copy, I just want to 
log a strenuous objection to this particular change. 
 
Thanks for the update, and I'll still love you even if you choose to ignore my strenuous objection ;-) 
 
Bill 

mailto:[mailto:callee@ils.unc.edu]
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-------------------------------- 
From: Landis, Bill [mailto:blandis@email.unc.edu]  
Sent: Thursday, April 14, 2011 5:47 PM 
To: American Archivist Editorial Board List 
Subject: Re: [aa-edboard] Journal Redesign in Progress 
 
I agree with Cal completely.  
 
Perhaps it is time for the Board to articulate a long-term preservation strategy for digital AA content. Is 
it Hathi Trust? We've discussed this in the past, but I'm not sure that we've ever conclusively decided on 
anything, or made a recommendation to Council on this topic if such a recommendation is needed? At 
minimum, I think it'd be great to have a web page up on the SAA/publications/AA site that articulates 
our preservation strategy and, if it is something like Hathi Trust, provide some information about when 
we make AA content freely available there and a URL linking to HT. 
 
Bill 
 
----------------------------------- 
 
From: Amy Cooper Cary [mailto:amyccary@uwm.edu]  
Sent: Tuesday, April 19, 2011 11:37 AM 
To: Teresa Brinati 
Subject: Re: [aa-edboard] Journal Redesign in Progress 
 
Hi Teresa -- I'm going to just add that I, too, like footnotes rather than end notes -- students won't go to 
end notes as readily as they'll read footnotes.  I do like the format overall -- especially adding "about the 
author" at the end of the articles -- that makes a lot of sense to me. 
  
Best, 
Amy 
 
-------------------------------------------- 
 
From: Brien Brothman [mailto:brienbro@hotmail.com]  
Sent: Sunday, April 17, 2011 8:13 AM 
To: American Archivist Editorial Board List 
Subject: RE: [aa-edboard] AA redesign 
 
Greetings everyone. 
 
I agree with the comments that Cal and Bill and other have made.  
 
I, too, hate end notes. Placing notes at the end of an article is no mere economic/location move; it 
represents a significant evolution in the nature and standards for professional dialogue and scholarship. 
The same "information" may be there and available  in the article "container",  but this document 
restructuring makes for a different representation of ideas. I know that some electronic sources mitigate 
this demotion of the note  by making it possible to quickly link or click back and forth between text and 
the end note.  
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On the cover my first reaction was that the new look seems like an attempt to hide the word "American" 
and to emphasize the term ARCHIVIST. A visual message worth pondering. 
 
On the sans serif font, I have gone through phases. I used to like it - it's clean, it exudes the scientific  
precision one finds in blue print and engineering drawing type - and, perhaps, most important, it seems 
to retain its appearance  across different computing environments, and it is apparently more legible for 
online reading. I like it less now, probably precisely because it has become a cookie cutter, predictable, 
culturally popular look. 
 
Brien 
 

-----Original Message----- 
From: Cal Lee [mailto:callee@ils.unc.edu]  
Sent: Sunday, April 17, 2011 12:24 PM 
To: American Archivist Editorial Board List 
Subject: Re: [aa-edboard] AA redesign 
 
> I’d just like to 2^nd Bill’s call for footnotes instead of endnotes. 
 
This would make Brien a third and me a fourth.  I think footnotes provide much better affordances for 
providing and consulting citations, notes and clarifications. 
 
- Cal 
 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: Conway, Paul [mailto:pconway@umich.edu]  
Sent: Sunday, April 17, 2011 6:30 PM 
To: American Archivist Editorial Board List 
Subject: RE: [aa-edboard] AA redesign 
 
Colleagues, 
 
Attached is a short missive on footnotes/endnotes/references.   
 
Paul... 
 
Footnotes / Endnotes / References  
 
I have been reluctant to weigh in on the issue of footnotes, endnotes, and references in American 
Archivist because I think the issue in part turns on one’s personal preference and personal style of 
scholarly reading, and in part on one’s vision of the intellectual/disciplinary reference point for the 
journal going forward.  In neither the case of preference nor of vision is it easy to marshal evidence for 
the point of view. In an attempt to obtain a bit more objectivity, I did a bit of literature searching on the 
issue of footnote-endnote preferences and also notes versus references.  Here is a summary of what I 
found. 
 
James Hartley [1] reviewed the issue of footnotes from socio-linguistic and psychological perspectives 
and then conducted a survey of scholars in his academic department in the UK.  I think this article is one 
of the only empirical studies of footnote preference, per se, and it is now 12 years old – completed well 
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before the boom in electronic journals.  He found that scholars who are accustomed to reading and 
using footnotes in their disciplines are more inclined to favor footnotes than those who use journals and 
books with endnotes or other citation mechanisms (p. 210). His bottom line for footnotes is “… most 
academics are not opposed to footnotes, although they are not very keen on them.” (p. 211) This is a 
lukewarm endorsement, at best.  
 
Buchanan (2007) looks at the issue of footnotes, endnotes, and references from the perspective of how 
well these mechanisms are picked up by indexing and abstracting services.  His theory is that the most 
important role of citations is not necessarily to support depth in active reading, but to contribute to the 
wider network of scholarship.  The study was done with chemistry journals, but the lessons are 
applicable to other disciplines.  He found that indexing services omitted footnote citations in articles 3.5 
times more frequently than endnote and reference citations.  Also he found that partial footnotes (such 
as the inclusion of last name, title, page, etc. or Ibid and Op Cit.) were also missed more frequently than 
full citations, which tend to be more common in reference lists than in footnotes.  (p. 534) His 
recommendations apply directly to the editorial process of journals, particularly his points that journal 
editors should allow only one citation per number, not permit citations to refer to the preceding citation 
by abbreviation, and insist on complete citations.  (p. 538)  
 
Finally, Robert Hauptman looks at citations in terms of the ethical implications of attributing or not 
attributing work.  He found small-scale but deeply troubling abuse of citations and provides a 
mechanism for categorizing this abuse.  Hoffman’s work goes to the completeness of the referencing 
process in journals. Hauptman claims that the formatting of citations is not particularly relevant if the 
references themselves are not validated in the editorial process.  
 
The other thing we need to look at is the how authors are actually using notes/references in their 
writing in American Archivist.  My unscientific sampling of the journal generates a mixed bag of 
conclusions.  A scholar such as Geoffrey Yeo seems to make maximum use of the footnote space to 
compile readings and to provide ancillary comments on the text proper.  Other authors use footnotes 
largely in the framing discussion and to cite the source of direct quotations.  In the former, notes add a 
layer of intellectual depth that references alone do not.  For the latter, there seems to be no added 
value to the “footnotes as references,” because the essence of the information is included in the text.  
Without a detailed review of the last several years of articles, I am not sure overall whether the 
presence of endnotes or a list of references would have hobbled the authors or impoverished readers. 
The endnote model emphasizes the author’s narrative and deemphasizes the evidence for that 
argument. My point here is that in making a recommendation or decision about the format of citations, 
we need to figure out how to get beyond personal preference to some sense of how reading is affected 
by the choice of citation style.   
 
That said, my own personal preference strongly goes to the social science style of citation where author-
date references are inline in the text and the references are arranged alphabetically at the end.  
Alternatively, numbered references in-text may allow for either alphabetical listings or in-order listings 
of references placed at the end of the journal article.  I also think that every effort should be made in the 
online version of the article to make references two-way hyper-active, whereby readers can jump to a 
reference from the text or jump back to the text from the reference number.  As a side point, every 
article on endnote-footnote preferences that I consulted, regardless of discipline (humanities, social 
sciences, science) contained end of article references rather than footnotes. 
 
I personally would be more sympathetic to the pro-footnote argument if the case could be made that 
readers read a given article in depth all the way through, mostly to master the rhetoric and the evidence 
marshaled.  It is my strong sense after compiling the results of the reader survey, however, that people 



read the American Archivist in small doses over a long period of time and that as an article ages it 
becomes particularly valuable for its citations and the sub-arguments in an article that those citations 
support.   
 
Endnote 
 
[1] Hartley, J. “What do we know about footnotes? Opinions and data.” Journal of Information Science, 
25 (3), 1999, pp. 205-212.  
 
Reference 
 
Buchanan, Robert. (2007). Science Citation Index Expanded: The Effect of Journal Editorial Policies. The 
Journal of Academic Librarianship, Vol. 33, No. 5, pp. 532-539. 
 

 
-----Original Message----- 
From: bikedork@tcq.net [mailto:bikedork@tcq.net]  
Sent: Sunday, April 17, 2011 9:36 PM 
To: American Archivist Editorial Board List 
Subject: Re: [aa-edboard] AA redesign 
 
In his exposition on footnotes, Paul fails to mention Anthony Grafton's "curious" history the The 
Footnote. It contains the story of Harry Bellafonte's early reading of W. E. B. Du Bois: 
 
I discovered that at the end of some sentences there was a number, and if you looked at the foot of the 
page the reference was to what it was all about -- what source Du Bois gleaned his information from. 
Footnotes first inspired the young West Indian sailor to read critically. 
 
It ends: 
 
"Footnotes guarantee nothing in themselves.  The enemies of truth -- and truth has enemies -- can use 
them to deny the same facts that honest historians use them to assert.  The enemies of ideas -- and they 
have enemies as well -- can use them to amass citations and quotations of no interest to any reader, or 
to attack anything that resembles a new thesis.  Yet footnotes form an indispensable if messy part of 
that indispensable, messy mixture of art and science: modern history." (235) 
 
Of course the book does not look at end notes, but the swing between narrative and footnote.  There 
are many high-powered historians who felt that footnotes utterly destroyed their narrative.  I am 
sympathetic.  I had to read the Aeneid in high school, and sometimes the footnotes would occupy three 
quarters of the page.  Even Mark Greene has to be jealous of that. 
 
With the exception of Greene's writing, I have yet to find an archival narrative disturbed by footnotes; 
they are certainly more efficient than endnotes if you want to bother to check the source.  However, I 
suspect that Paul has once again grabbed a piece of the truth. 
Usually when I am ambivalent I look to cost.  Is there a huge cost difference? 
 
Bruce 
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-----Original Message----- 
From: bikedork@tcq.net [mailto:bikedork@tcq.net]  
Sent: Sunday, April 17, 2011 9:51 PM 
To: American Archivist Editorial Board List 
Subject: Re: [aa-edboard] AA redesign 
 
Okay, I just looked at the footnote to the Harry Bellafonte story. 
It's too good to pass up: 
 
Belafonte also recalls how the citation codes Du Bois used stimied his first efforts at self-education: "So 
when I was on leave, going into Chicago, I went to a library with a long list of books.  The librarian said, 
"That's too many, young man.  You're going to have to cut it down."  I said, "I can make it very easy.  Just 
give me everything you got by Ibid." She said, "There's no such writer."  I called her a racist.  I said, "Are 
you trying to keep me in the darkness?" And I walked out of there angry. 
 
Good night, ladies and gentlemen. 
 
BHB 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: bikedork@tcq.net [mailto:bikedork@tcq.net]  
Sent: Sunday, April 17, 2011 9:52 PM 
To: American Archivist Editorial Board List 
Subject: Re: [aa-edboard] AA redesign 
 
N.B.  I probably wouldn't have seen that footnote if it had been an endnote. 
 
BHB 
 
---------------------------------------------------- 
From: Brien Brothman [mailto:brienbro@hotmail.com]  
Sent: Monday, April 18, 2011 5:35 AM 
To: American Archivist Editorial Board List 
Subject: RE: [aa-edboard] AA redesign 
  
It's 6:30 am, so don't hold this against me: 
  
Coming out of the talmudic/ Derridean tradition, the difference between the text  and the footnote is 
less clear than in other venues. That is, the distance(physical/intellectua)l  between text and 
commentary or elaboration on text is minute. The advent of hyperlinking, for me, is an extension of the 
talmudic practice of marginalizing the difference between text and commentary and other authorities 
alongside texts. (Google an image of the word Talmud and you'll see what I mean.  
  
Does not the footnote,  in history at least, represent a bid for scientific authority based on the 
evidentiary power of the cited source, the original record? What on earth are archivists doing arguing 
about demoting the source citation to the endnote. Should we, of all people, not be arguing instead for 
theimportance and  prominence of source citation? 
  
Now I'm awake. Thank you. 
B 
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--------------------------------------- 
From: Michelle Light [mailto:michelle.light@uci.edu]  
Sent: Monday, April 18, 2011 11:47 AM 
To: American Archivist Editorial Board List 
Subject: Re: [aa-edboard] AA redesign 
 
For what it's worth, my personal preference is also for footnotes, whether they be merely citations or 
more substantial in nature.  
 
I am a fan of the new cover though. 
 
-- Michelle 
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Modes of Seeing:  
Digitized Photographic Archives 

and the Experienced User
Paul Conway

ABSTRACT 
Digitization practice in archives and libraries is now generating digital content and 
associated tools and practices that are transforming the relationships among archi-
vists, users, and archival collections. The transformative nature of digitization derives 
in part from the power of the complex technologies to represent images and facili-
tate their use. This article explores how experienced, but for the most part nonaca-
demic, users see the visual, material, and archival properties of digitized photo-
graphic archives while undertaking innovative and insightful projects that push the 
boundaries of visual interpretation. The study is a qualitative investigation involving 
independent case studies of seven people who have extensive experience using the 
photographic archives preserved by the Library of Congress. This article contextual-
izes the research in a range of literatures, summarizes the research methodology, 
and presents findings from in-depth interviews that focus on how visually experi-
enced users choose digitized photographs for inclusion in a given project. By under-
standing these “modes of seeing” the contemporary digitized visual archives, archi-
vists are in a better position to understand the representational implications of their 
digitization processes. 

KEY WORDS
Digitization, Photographs, Visual Literacy
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Over time and with increasing confidence, cultural heritage organizations 
are transforming large portions of their photographic archives by digitiz-

ing original prints and negatives, transcribing and augmenting metadata, and 
delivering the combined products for use. Seamus Ross notes that large-scale 
digital libraries are simultaneously mechanisms for delivering digital surro-
gates of archival holdings and new archival collections in their own right that 
reflect the decisions that digital curators make throughout the digitization 
process.1 Today’s ubiquitous digitization activities began simply enough as 
experiments with new technologies. After nearly twenty years, digitization 
practice has become a transformative process that reaches all aspects of the 
archival enterprise. Even when archival organizations choose to minimize 
their use of digitization tools, users increasingly are demanding remote access 
to archival collections, perhaps sidestepping archives that do not have a sig-
nificant online presence. The transformative nature of digitization restruc-
tures the value and meaning that users extract from large collections of digi-
tized photographs. Although meaning originates with the source, the ways 
that users see photographs online may be influenced by their encounters with 
the digital surrogates themselves, which carry with them a mix of visual, tech-
nological, and archival properties. 

Community-based practices developed by tightly circumscribed but overlap-
ping networks of technical experts guide the multibillion dollar investment by 
archives, libraries, and museums to build digital collections from photographic 
and other cultural resources.2 Virtually no research, however, has explored the 
relationship between building and using digital image archives.3 Tefko Saracevic 
reviews a decade of digital library evaluation studies and finds that “more often 
than not, digital library users and digital libraries are in an adversarial posi-
tion.”4 Saracevic assesses more than eighty evaluation studies and finds only 
three that study image-based collections, all of which focus on retrieval effective-
ness.5 Use studies conducted at Pennsylvania State University6 and the University 
of California, Berkeley,7 provide important demographic insights but reach no 
conclusions about how users find meaning in the images they select. In a sepa-
rate exhaustive review of empirical studies regarding the concept of “relevance,” 
Saracevic identifies only one study carried out in image databases,8 a study that 
uses the Library of Congress’s American Memory collections as a test bed.9 

Theoretical Context

Building collections of photographs through digitization is fundamentally 
a process of representation, a far more interesting and complex phenomenon 
than merely copying photographs from one medium to another. W. J. T. Mitchell 
defines representation as a mediated relationship using signs or symbols between 
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the maker and the viewer of one object that stands for another. According to 
Mitchell, “Representation is always of something or someone, by something or 
someone, to someone.”10 In Mitchell’s theories, which are derived from his schol-
arship at the nexus of the word and image, representation practice is fraught 
with the potential for communication problems that range from misinterpreta-
tion and misunderstanding to falsehood and forgery. “As soon as we begin to use 
representations in any social situation—to claim, for instance, that this dab of 
paint represents the fact that this stone is in that place and looks like this—then 
representation begins to play a double role, as a means of communication which 
is also a potential obstacle to it,” asserts Mitchell.11 When considered as a form of 
representation, digitization of archival photographs comprises a means of com-
munication between image and user in which the archivist, as digitizer, system 
builder, and interface architect, plays a fundamental mediating role. 

In his exploration of visual representation, Mitchell distinguishes between 
two concepts: image and picture. A picture is “a material object, a thing you can 
burn or break,” whereas “an image is what appears in a picture and what sur-
vives its destruction—in memory, in narrative, and in copies and traces in other 
media.”12 In a similar vein, Robert Wicks draws attention to the filtering that 
occurs in the transition between image and picture. 

Actual photographs express ideas about their subject in a fashion which…
we may call “masking.” In this manner, an object is manifested to us in the 
photograph, which, at the same time, certain visual qualities of the object 
are photographically filtered out from and/or other features are added to the 
object’s appearance.13 

Wicks’s conclusion extends to the digitization of photographs, whereby a 
sequence of scanning and postscan enhancements transforms the visual and 
material characteristics of the source photograph.14 The visual properties of a 
digitized photograph constitute a representation of a representation, in which 
the original scene, “seen” through the camera’s lens, makes its way to the con-
temporary viewer through time, space, and technology. 

Scholars from a wide variety of disciplines are beginning to explore how 
theories of visual representation bear upon the use of digital collections of pho-
tographs. Archivist Joanna Sassoon largely sees diminished meaning (“an ephem-
eral ghost”) through digitization,15 whereas literary critic Mitchell finds potential 
transcendence. “In a world where the very idea of the unique original seems a 
merely nominal or legal fiction, the copy has every chance of being an improve-
ment or enhancement of whatever counts as the original.”16 Archivist Lilly Koltun 
emphasizes that a digitized photograph “leaves behind another originating doc-
ument whose disposal or retention can inspire other archival debates focused 
around original attributes and meanings not ‘translated’ into, even distorted 
by, the new medium.”17 Museum studies theorist Fiona Cameron argues that 
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digitized photographs are “digital historical objects” in their own right, “separate 
from any referent, and as an entirely new creative project the materiality argu-
ment can no longer be given pre-eminence.”18 Skeptics and enthusiasts on both 
sides of this argument stake their claims without explicit evidence about user 
needs and user expectations regarding visual, material, or archival properties of 
the digital surrogates. 

Technologies of digital representation—such as scanning, image processing, 
and delivery through a graphical user interface—radically transform the commu-
nication paradigm that is fundamental to representation. Through their theory 
of remediation, Jay David Bolter and Richard Grusin provide a mechanism for 
understanding how the technical properties of digitized photographs relate to 
the user’s definition of meaning. Remediation is a culturally driven desire both 
“to multiply its media and to erase all traces of mediation: it wants to erase its 
media in the very act of multiplying technologies of mediation.”19 Evidence of 
remediation of photographic content through new technologies is found in the 
repurposing of digitized photographs in interactive video games20 and, most 
recently, in the wide distribution of large collections of digitized photographs in 
social network sites such as Flickr.21 Remediation theory postulates that those 
who build digital collections seek “technological transparency,” whereby viewers 
of digital surrogates are able to establish the same relationship with the image 
as they are able to have with the original. “But of course this is never so,” argue 
Bolter and Grusin. “The computer always intervenes and makes its presence felt 
in some way.”22 The representation of archival photographs through digitization 
technologies carries the potential for contradictory and confusing messages for 
users, where the distinction between old and new media is lost in the technical 
minutia of the digitization process itself. 

Archivists increasingly are becoming attuned to the implications of digital 
representation for archival theory. In introducing a paper on the creation of a 
Web-based map archive, Joan Schwartz points toward a tension between the 
views of theorists and practitioners regarding digitized materials: 

Many professional archivists would not view [a digitized assembled collec-
tion] as “an archive” in the strictest “organic” sense of the word; however, it 
is the very use of the word that points to the discomforting specter of “two 
solitudes” with almost mutually exclusive bodies of professional writing: “the 
archive” as understood by academics, cultural critics, and computer aficiona-
dos, and the “real world of archives” as practiced by archivists with their own 
set of principles and practices.23 

Although archivists are discussing their roles as agents in the construction of 
history and societal knowledge,24 explicit discussion of the archival properties of 
digital surrogates has not yet been published in the archival literature. 
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Geoffrey Yeo’s recent work on the archival record contains clues about the 
archival nature of digital surrogates. He poses a theory that some types of archi-
val records—for example, photographic archives—exist as “boundary objects” at 
the margins of core archival constructs. In adapting Susan Leigh Star’s pioneer-
ing work on the multiple social values of museum collections, 25 Yeo notes that 
the archival nature of boundary objects varies according to the uses to which 
they are put. In his example of the historical photographic archive, Yeo notes 
that “a visual item could be interpreted as a record, a photograph, an artifact 
of aesthetic design, a symbolic object, and an economic asset. Each community 
brings its own perspective to the table.”26 Yeo’s theory, when applied to digitized 
photographs, postulates that boundary objects constructed from archival sources 
carry with them their archival nature and exist as “persistent representations” of 
an event or activity at one or multiple points in time and space.27 The extent to 
which users interpret and trust the archival properties of boundary objects such 
as digitized photographs is an open question. 

In the creation of digital surrogates of archival photographs, trust likely 
functions on multiple levels. Abby Smith locates trust in the organization that 
builds and maintains digitized collections. “The only reason that we expect [an] 
image to be a truthful representative of the original is that we can rely on the 
integrity of the institution that has mounted the files and makes them available 
to us.”28 Luciana Duranti and the many archivists who have contributed to the 
InterPARES initiative lodge trust at the level of the individual record and its sig-
nificant components, defining integrity as a function of documented authentic-
ity and, most especially, reliable reproduction methods. “Degree of completeness 
and degree of control of the procedure of creation are the only two factors that 
determine the reliability of records.”29 These claims for archival trust are made 
by archivists acting as proxies for users, whose perspectives on the archival 
nature of digital surrogates are not well understood. 

Research Questions, Methodology, and  
Data Analysis

Given the relative dearth of research on the actual use of digitized pho-
tographic archives, this research is necessarily exploratory in character. The 
project is grounded in a theory that the digitization of photographs is a process 
of representation in which material artifacts are remediated as new artifacts 
with properties derived from the original sources. Against this theoretical back-
drop exists a need to define how the visual, technical, and archival properties 
resonate with users within the communication structure of representation, a 
structure that places a computer screen and graphical user interface between 
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the intention of the digitizer and the goals of those who need surrogates for 
specific, product-oriented projects. 

Adopting Mitchell’s constructive distinction between a picture (what you 
can break) and an image (what appears in a picture and survives in memory), 
this research explores the circumstances under which the materiality of the 
artifact resonates intellectually and emotionally with the user who must make 
both global and particular decisions in a sea of digital possibilities. If collec-
tions of digital surrogates hold archival properties, as Yeo, Nesmith, and others 
postulate, then a further question arises over the extent to which users treat 
digital surrogates as archives (pictures), as opposed to treating them primarily 
as convenient memory devices (images) accessible more conveniently and cost 
effectively than their sources. 

Q1.	 Seeing Images: How do the visual aspects of digitized photograph 
archives influence the choice of images for a given purpose?

Q2.	 Seeing Pictures: What is the relative importance of the technical char-
acteristics of digitized photograph archives in determining the choice 
of images for a given purpose? 

Q3.	 Seeing Archives: To what extent do the archival properties of digitized 
photograph archives and the underlying photographic sources influ-
ence the choice of images for a given purpose? 

This research mines the knowledge and experience of visually oriented 
researchers whose expertise with digitized photographs is the foundation of 
their individual projects. The definition of “expertise” is based on the traditional 
terminology of medieval craft guilds. An expert is 

the distinguished or brilliant journeyman, highly regarded by peers, whose 
judgments are uncommonly accurate and reliable, whose performance shows 
consummate skill and economy of effort, and who can deal effectively with 
rare or “tough” cases. Also, an expert is one who has special skills or knowl-
edge derived from extensive experience with sub-domains.30 

This definition acknowledges that expertise is socially constructed and vali-
dated through community judgment. Expertise demands high levels of technical 
skill and efficiency, as well as the capability to recognize and deal with excep-
tions to a rule. The definition incorporates focused experience as one of several 
components, but not necessarily the most important one. 

Experts marshal experience more effectively than novices. John Bransford’s 
research on learning highlights the fundamental differences. “Experts have 
acquired extensive knowledge that affects what they notice and how they organ-
ize, represent, and interpret information in their environment.”31 Experts have 
mastered their subject domain and can find and retrieve facts and information 
“with little attentional effort,” but may not be able to teach others or convey 
their deep understandings other than in the specific products they produce. In 
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his study of the differences between novice and expert historians in the use of 
textual and pictorial documents, Samuel Wineburg concludes that experts have 
acquired the ability to construct a “context-specific schema” tailored to a specific 
event or problem-situation.32 Even more tellingly, Wineburg’s research, corrobo-
rated by Helen Tibbo and others who have studied experts and the use of archival 
resources, suggests that experts approach textual and visual records with more 
sweeping ways of knowing and thinking about evidence.33 Experts have more 
nuanced ways of seeing the evidence in the archival record, not simply more 
experience using archives. 

In his review of two decades of empirical research on extracting knowledge 
from experts, Robert Hoffman concludes that a combination of documentation 
analysis, task analysis, and thinking-out-loud protocol analysis is the most effec-
tive overall approach to eliciting knowledge from experts.34 This research project 
adapts this strategy by conducting two-stage, semistructured interviews with 
experienced users, supplemented by an independent analysis of the content and 
context of the source materials users consulted for specific projects with defined 
outcomes. The locus of research is individuals who have made significant use of 
digitized photographs provided by the Library of Congress.

Research Context 

The Library of Congress distributes one of the largest collections of digitized 
cultural heritage resources in the world. The two principal digital collections are 
the American Memory historical collections and the Prints and Photographs 
Division Online Catalog. American Memory had its origins in the early 1990s as 
the National Digital Library Program. It now unifies search and browse functions 
across nine million items from 138 discrete physical collections, twenty-three of 
which are not part of the Library of Congress’s physical holdings.35 The Prints 
and Photographs Division (PPD) holds more than fourteen million items (photo-
graphs, prints, architectural documentation). The PPD Online Catalog provides 
access to approximately 1.2 million digitized images.36 It includes textual descrip-
tions for about half of the total holdings (some images are cataloged as groups 
and some catalog records do not link to digitized items). American Memory, as 
the name implies, focuses its digital resources on American history and culture, 
whereas the digital resources of the Prints and Photographs Division have an 
international reach. The two large digital collections overlap significantly.37

Library of Congress digital programs have served as a test bed for research 
for over a decade. Among the best and most influential studies are those of Gary 
Marchionini and his research team, who conducted extensive and multifaceted 
usability research in the mid-1990s as part of the interface design for American 
Memory.38 Youngok Choi and Edie Rasmussen used American Memory to test 
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search query formulation.39 H. I. Xie examined the attitudes and perceptions of 
users toward a set of digital library evaluation criteria.40 Marija Dalbello decon-
structed leadership behavior in the development of the National Digital Library 
Program as a case study in the social construction of technology.41 These studies 
treat the digital content of American Memory as a fixed and holistic dataset, and 
none seeks to understand the potential relationship between user behavior and 
the characteristics of the visual content itself. The study reported here assumes 
that the Library of Congress’s online collections are enabling mechanisms for 
unknown communities of users. Focusing on large collections of digitized pho-
tographs from a single repository in part helps control for variations across 
systems in three areas that are out of scope for this research: interface design; 
variance in digital imaging processes; and dissonant metadata models.

Identification of Study Group

The initial request to the Library of Congress asked curators to identify 
potential participants for an independent study, based on the following general 
criteria: 1) significant use of the digitized photographic holdings of the Library 
of Congress within the past eighteen months (2007–2008); and 2) work that has 
recently produced a tangible product (book, scholarly article, motion picture, 
complex website, online exhibition, etc.) likely to be credited in part to the Library 
of Congress. The investigator identified seven individuals from an initial list of 
twenty names provided by the curators of the Prints and Photographs Division. 
The selection of interview participants was not random but rather reflected the 
knowledge of the PPD curators about ongoing or recently completed projects, 
combined with the willingness and availability of prospective study participants. 
The curatorial staff of the PPD contacted potential participants by email and 
provided an overview of the research project prepared by the investigator. The 
investigator responded to questions about the research project by email and 
obtained permission for a first-phase interview. 

Participants, Projects, Products

The seven participants varied widely in terms of demographic, educational, 
and occupational characteristics. Three were female; four were male. Their ages 
ranged from thirty to sixty-seven. The participants worked and lived east of the 
Mississippi River in five separate communities. All seven were college gradu-
ates, in disciplines that encompassed the arts and humanities, social science, 
and business. Two obtained master’s degrees, and one was a doctoral student 
at the time of the interview. None of the participants were trained as archivists, 
although two individuals had experience working as paraprofessionals in one 
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or more archives. Only one of the seven had an educational background in pho-
tography; all participants characterized themselves as self-taught in the areas of 
their research. All but one of the participants were nonacademic in their orienta-
tion toward their work, in that their approach to research and visual investiga-
tion generally lacked an overt theoretical perspective. 

Table 1 presents summary information on the context of products and 
projects on which the interviews focused. The products included four books, a 
dissertation, a complex and dynamic website, and a database for a membership 
organization. For their projects, participants used digitized photographs deliv-
ered from either the American Memory collection (AmMem) or the online cata-
log of the Prints and Photographs Division (PPD). Each of the five collections con-
sulted is discrete within its particular delivery system. The Civil War Photographs 
collection is available through interfaces to both the American Memory and the 
PPD databases. The Turkestan Album and the photographs from the National 
Child Labor Committee (NCLC) are available in digital form only through the 
PPD online catalog. Portions of the Farm Security Administration/Office of War 
Information collection (FSA/OWI) are distributed through the American Memory 
interface, but the entire digitized collection is fully available only through the 
PPD interface. Finally, the Bain photograph collection is fully available digit-
ally through the PPD interface and selectively through the American Memory 
interface. 

Table 1. Projects and Products

Project Collection Database Product Stage in 
2009

P1 US Civil War photographers Civil War AmMem Book Done

P2 Russian colonialism Turkestan PPD Dissertation In progress

P3 Child labor practices NCLC PPD Website Ongoing

P4 Depression-era music FSA/OWI PPD Book Done

P5 Biography of photographer FSA/OWI PPD Book In progress

P6 Depression-era photo story FSA/OWI AmMem Book Done

P7 Baseball history Bain PPD/Am-
Mem

Database Ongoing

Interview Procedures and Analysis

A doctoral student research assistant conducted seven initial telephone 
interviews of approximately forty-five minutes in duration. Each interview was 
recorded and the results transcribed. The phase-one interview introduced the 
research project, obtained background information on the training and experi-
ence of the participant, and identified one or more potential ongoing or recently 
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completed projects by the interview participant. Sufficient detail on each user’s 
project was obtained to permit the investigator and the research assistant to 
assemble and analyze extant documentation on each project.42

The investigator conducted individual face-to-face interviews with each 
of the seven participants at their residence or office, chosen by them as the 
location where they most frequently used the digital images. Before the on-site 
interview, each participant was provided with a one-page general interview pro-
tocol (see Appendix 1) that identified the topical areas and general order of the 
interview. Each interview proceeded in a semistructured fashion through three 
major components: 1) self-assessment of expertise with photographic materials 
and digitized photographs; 2) overall decision-making strategies for the identified 
project; and 3) an assessment of the visual, technical, and archival properties of 
individual digitized photographs selected for inclusion in the project. Interviews 
varied from 1.5 to 4.5 hours in length. Each interview was recorded and the results 
transcribed, yielding textual data of 139,256 words on 309 pages.

Analysis proceeded in three stages: 1) the immediate creation of a jour-
nal entry with contextual information not captured in the recordings and any 
numbers or proper nouns from notes to aid the interview transcription process; 
2) the assembly of data from the interview instruments; and 3) the qualitative 
analysis of interview transcripts using the grounded theory method. Grounded 
theory analysis is designed to extract systematic knowledge on research prob-
lems for which the underlying theory is underdeveloped.43 The term “grounded” 
refers to the process of developing testable hypotheses from the interview data 
itself, rather than using interview data to test pre-established theories. 

Grounded theory analysis identifies patterns of meaning through the itera-
tive, line-by-line extraction of concept terms from interview transcripts. This 
method is particularly useful for semistructured interviews during which partici-
pants use their own descriptive terms, instead of being prompted by the wording 
of questionnaires or other discussion guides. Emergent theoretical constructs 
are identified, via the interview transcripts, from the participants’ own descrip-
tions of their experience and expertise. The outcome of grounded theory analysis 
has no predictive power for the general population of the users of the Library of 
Congress or any other large digital collection. Instead the interviews constitute 
raw material to develop a theory of the use of visual archives. The power of the 
research derives from the analytical method. Given the relative weaknesses of 
visual-based user research, grounded theory provides a great degree of analytical 
flexibility.
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Findings: Modes of Seeing

Seven highly experienced visual researchers provided ample raw material 
for constructing a multifaceted theory of how digitized photographic archives 
yield knowledge through use. The findings mine interview transcripts for evi-
dence of three distinctive ways of seeing digitized content. The first way involves 
seeing digitized photographs as objects whose visual content is their primary 
value. Adapting Mitchell’s distinction, experienced users are facile in seeing an 
image as what appears in a picture and survives its digitization.44 The second 
way of seeing engages the material properties of the original source photograph 
through the intermediary power of digitization—the surrogate as picture—or, 
in Mitchell’s view, “a material object, a thing you can burn or break.” In a third 
way of seeing, visually oriented researchers experience the surrogate directly 
as the archival record, as what Yeo and Star call “boundary objects,” often with-
out reference to the source, endowed with archival properties as preserved and 
trustworthy.

Seeing Images

Experienced users see images for the data they provide―the relevance of 
which is determined by the user’s particular field of view. The value of an image 
is also seen to reside in the emotions that the image elicits from the viewer. 
Digitized archival photographs, transmitted seamlessly from archive to home or 
office, have a particularly strong emotional power that text-based records often 
lack, even those with intense symbolic value.

Field of view 

An image is simultaneously a mix of visual data elements (a hand, a tin cup, 
a distant skyline), a whole composition, and a piece of a puzzle that exists in time 
and space beyond the border. Participants saw the visual content of images from 
one or more of these perspectives and placed demands on the visual content of 
the digitized photographs based upon a particular field of view. 

Participant 1 was driven by visual knowledge obtained from mining very high 
resolution digital images of original camera negatives, in this case a stereographic 
negative approximately 4 x 5 inches in its original form (see Figure 1).

See the extraordinary detail that you can have in this shot when we bring it 
to the edge of pixilation. There’s the yellow light in the photographers dark 
room wagon and an Imperial camera on the ground and the cover sheet that 
goes around the photographer at the back of a wagon. A guy is holding a 
negative where you can actually see some of the detail on it.… Then if you get 
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back into the background, what’s this? The Naval Observatory in Washington, 
D.C., the Capitol dome unfinished; the unfinished Washington Monument;  
a steamboat in one of the inlets; the towers of the Smithsonian Castle; all of 
that in that photograph.… And that to me is the magic. (P1, 14–15)

Participant 1’s expertise was such that he could envision color in a black-
and-white image and derive the name of a manufacturer from the shape of a 
partially obscured camera body. His ability to tell a story turns on the power 
of digital zoom technologies to find detail in the foreground, the midfield, and 
the background that could not be obtained from the relatively small original 
negative on a lightbox with a loupe, even if the 148-year-old negative could be 
handled in such a way (which it cannot). His research is impossible to undertake 
without data-rich digital surrogates.

Participant 7 used a similar form of digital detective work to identify por-
traits of individual baseball players, which subscribers add to a database. “I’ll use 
individual photos because that’s what the user wants. I will use team photos if 
there’s no other way to get a player’s picture” (P7, 16). His work involved pains-
taking reading of individual photos for identity clues: 

The thing that is most important to us is recognition of faces. It’s almost like 
forensic science, being able to compare one face and one photo with another 
face and another photo and match them up. There’s one fellow of ours who 
has this ability to magnify ears and be able to say, “That is not the same guy 
as that, because the two human ears are not alike.” (P7, 4) 

The results of such painstaking looking, examining, comparing, and judging 
may be a more accurate description of the image. For the player depicted in 
Figure 2, Participant 7 summarized the satisfaction that derives from finding 
such errors: 

Well it turns out that sometimes those last names etched on the photographs 
were wrong. For example, as we got more sophisticated and compared faces, 
we found out that last name we thought was Herb Pennock wasn’t Pennock 
at all, it was [Weldon] Wyckoff, so in this second go around sometimes we’re 
discovering those errors. (P7, 6)

For some users, seeing digital images is a holistic undertaking that registers 
the visual power of the entire composition. For example, in Participant 2’s work 
with a rare album of original photographic prints, the field of view encompassed 
the photograph as a whole object whose very existence speaks to its value: 

You don’t just look at the center of the frame, you look at the corners; you 
look at the edges. You see what’s going on. You look for movement, and in 19th 
century photography that’s easy because the image is blurry. But with Central 
Asia photography, or any type of colonial photography, no image is innocent. 
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You have to understand the power or hierarchy that is being played out in 
these images. (P2, 8)

Participant 3 also valued the composition of an image, factoring in sub-
tle details of light and shadow and the positioning of the main subject. After 
expressing little interest in zooming on the image for detail, he described the 
choice of digital surrogates for study in terms of the photograph’s iconic value, 
its beauty, and how the photographer speaks through the picture: 

First of all the child is looking directly into the camera and somehow he got 
that child to look into the camera.… The disappearing point here, the relation-
ship between her size and the spinning machine is important. The narrowness 
of the work space; there’s this feeling that she’s trapped.” (P 3, 26)

The field of view extends well beyond the borders of a given image. 
Participant 2 was acutely aware of the importance of understanding the relation-
ship between the visual content of an image and information beyond the border. 
Representation practice resides with the geospatial context of the photographer 
and scene and with the sociopolitical context within which the photograph was 
created and initially preserved (see Figure 3):

This image is of a horse bazaar. It’s less about the digital transfer than all the 
content in the photograph. I’m selecting images that are conveying culturally 
particular aspects that the Russians seem to be honing in on [in assembling 
the album]. The Russians were very interested in keeping up their cavalry, so 
they might not just be conveying an ancient commercial practice of Central 
Asia, but also one that they’re deeply invested in for their own purposes of 
controlling the land. And it has to do with horses, and the horse culture, and 
both cultures kind of coming together in the same encounter, the colonial 
encounter. (P2, 31) 

The field of view encompasses the spaces between photos in a group as 
well: 

I think I have a fairly intuitive approach to looking at the images for the con-
tent that’s in the frame. And oftentimes that means looking at what’s going 
on outside of the frame. I don’t just look at the photographs individually but I 
look at them as an entire collection and the power they hold there. (P2, 7) 

Experienced users of pictorial archives see digital images not only as win-
dows on the past that evoke an emotional response in the present, but also as 
pieces of a story whose ultimate value is in the telling. For each of the partici-
pants in the study, seeing images equated to seeing an end product, realized in 
part through individual effort and in part through the power of publishing in 
print or through the Internet. Participant 1 mentioned two working strategies 
for the selection of photos for a book on Civil War photographers: 
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The primary strategy would have been very unusual, previously unpublished, 
different photos, different, something that people haven’t seen in other books. 
(P1, 22) 

A little further on in the interview, Participant 1 mentioned a second strategy: 
illustration of the story: 

And then the other thing is just finding images distinctive for historical con-
text…some of these are just kind of normal shots to help illustrate the chapter 
about the bombing of Charleston. (P1, 23–24) 

In both cases, Participant 1 used digital images as pictures not for their own 
sake for personal learning or narrow ends but rather in the context of a specific, 
tangible product. For all of the participants, if the image fit the purpose and the 
product, all that remained were technical decisions relating to publishing.

Emotional resonance of image

As a representation of a moment in time, an archival photograph has the 
capacity to carry its emotional aura into the digital realm. Participant 3 estab-
lished a visceral, nearly personal relationship with both the photographer and 
the photographer’s subject, though both are long since dead. This relationship 
survives the digital imaging process itself, as well as the display on a relatively 
low-quality computer screen under less than optimal viewing conditions (see 
Figure 4).

I think mainly it was the fact that you cannot look at this picture without 
being drawn right into this girl, who she was, and whatever happened to her? 
But in terms of the choice of this picture I think…ultimately it may simply be 
the fact that Hine had this gift for telling me this girl was important. This girl 
mattered to somebody…this girl was worth something in society. She wasn’t 
just what he called “human junk.” She was a real person. There’s no sense of 
pity here. She looks strong; almost defiant. You want her to survive. You care 
about her. I think Hine was almost telling me: “Pick this one up.” (P3, 30)

As his allusions shifted tense from past to present, Participant 3 described 
an image of a young girl, employed as a spinner in a cotton mill. The digital 
image reproduces one of nine photographs taken by Lewis Hine in and around 
Whitnel, North Carolina, in December 1908—but only this photograph carries 
sufficient emotional resonance and a clearly identifiable child. 

The emotional connection between the original negative and the circum-
stances of its creation can be equally strong. Reproduction and the processes asso-
ciated with delivering digital surrogacy carry as intense an emotional power as 
is often attributed to the original artifact. Upon learning that technicians would 
create a photographic print from a camera original, Participant 1 recalled: 
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My jaw dropped. You were going to pull that plate out and give me a contact 
print with the same actual artifact that was exposed to the sun that day on  
the Antietam battlefield? To me this is a visceral tie of an actual direct contact 
[with the battle]. (P1, 8) 

Later in the same interview, Participant 1 expressed some of the same emotion 
when viewing a digital version online. “The digitizing project allows you to visit 
the Antietam battlefield in an incredibly intimate way” (P1, 55). In both cases, 
surrogacy transmitted directly the aura of the bloody battle itself, not simply the 
aura of a historic artifact (glass-plate negative or original photograph). 

Participant 7 related that one of his most important contributions to a base-
ball history project was serving as an arbiter of accuracy within his community 
of baseball researchers by countering the emotional reaction that sometimes 
accompanies discovery of new connections between digital image and histori-
cal event: “It is part of my job as the middle guy to be a little bit dispassionate” 
(P7, 20). The emotional power of the digital image extends to the research 
process itself. Participant 7 frequently referred to the passion of his group of 
researchers, passion for baseball, certainly, and passion for finding images of 
the few hundred professional baseball players not previously identified. But pas-
sion sometimes clouds the judgment of enthusiasts, working against rigorous 
certainty about the truth of names or the quality of the images used to identify 
baseball players: 

The passion-person who wants like anything to get the last 605 photos doesn’t 
care a whit about the quality of the picture. He’s looking for the face. He 
doesn’t care if the picture is of the player when he was 92 years old in the 
church directory. It had nothing to do with his playing days or anything. I’m 
afraid that there’s a point where emotion takes over. (P7, 19–20)

The emotional association of image to an obscure past extends beyond 
individual digital photographs to envelope an entire project. Participant 3 was a 
natural storyteller. Here is his (abridged) recollection about how he first became 
involved with the Hine photos: 

The origin of the project was very serendipitous, actually. I have a very good 
friend who finished writing a novel,45 and she said, “I really now need to know 
what really happened to this girl.” I got really excited about doing detective 
work like that and I just said, “Sure, who knows what I’ll find.” And it took 
me eleven days to find her. Eventually I found the whole story of the girl. I 
thought it was the most emotional thing that had ever happened to me. I 
felt kind of like Jimmy Stewart in Vertigo following Kim Novak around and I 
thought, “Well what am I going to do about the rest of my life now that this 
project is over.” (P3, 15)
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Findings: Seeing Pictures

Mitchell’s distinction between image and picture compels us to consider 
the relationship that users have with original photographic prints and negatives, 
given the clear engagement that they have with digital surrogates. Experienced 
users make distinctions regarding the need to interact with original source 
materials; some privilege the original source, while others rely on the surrogate 
to satisfy most, if not all, of their information needs.

Privileging the original over the surrogate

Three of the seven participants had spent considerable time handling and 
working with the original source photographs that they used online for their 
projects. Participant 1 consulted prints of Civil War negatives early in the project 

Figure 1.  Arlington Heights, Virginia. Blockhouse near Aqueduct Bridge, 1861–65. Wet collodion glass 
stereograph negative, LC-B811-2282, Selected Civil War Photographs,  Library of Congress Prints and Pho-
tographs Division. Digital file from original negative, available at http://hdl.loc.gov/loc.pnp/cwpb.01439.
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and was also invited by Library of Congress staff to witness and assist with digital 
scanning of original camera negatives. As an intern at the Library of Congress, 
Participant 2 processed the Turkestan Photo Albums and prepared a finding aid 
and caption transcriptions with translations. Participant 5 processed photograph 
collections as a paraprofessional in a number of archival repositories prior to 
beginning her career as a consultant. All three of these participants were ada-
mant about the value of handling original photographs as part of a research 
project. Their argument emphasized the passion that derives from intimate 

Figure 2.  Weldon Wyckoff, Philadelphia, 1913. Photographic print, George Grantham Bain Collection, 
Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division. Title and date based on research by the Pictorial His-
tory Committee, Society for American Baseball Research, 2009. Digital file from black and white film copy 
negative, available at http://www.loc.gov/pictures/collection/ggbain/item/ 2001704361/.
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Figure 3 a–b.  Horse Bazaarfrom Turkestan Album Ethnographic Part 2, volume 2, plate 103, image no. 25 
(album page); image no. 323 (photograph), 1872. Albumen print and album page from album in 2 volumes, 
6 pages and 164 leaves of plates, part 2, DK855.4 (Case Z), Library of Congress Prints and Photographs 
Division. Digital files of original photos, Part 2, ppmsca 09951, available at http://hdl.loc.gov/loc.pnp/ppm-
sca.09951. Digital files of original album pages, Part 2, vol. 2, ppmsca 09952, available at http://hdl.loc.gov/
loc.pnp/ppmsca.09952.
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familiarity with the sources, rather than from the need to overcome the limita-
tions of digital surrogates.

Participant 2 favored original photographs over their digital reproductions 
for purposes of study and interpretation, returning to the original albums for 
details and in appreciation of their aesthetic qualities:

I use my eyes with the original as my key data collector and then I make notes.… 
I’ve done this for every single album. I think that sitting with the computer and 
looking through this I would miss a lot of this detail. It meant so much to be 
there up close (P2, 37).

Further probing of her simple statement “I always privilege the original” 
(P2, 13) yields evidence that the specific limitations of the digital product were 
of paramount concern. Participant 2 took issue with cropping decisions made 
during digitization that obscured the material properties of the original photos 
and their physical contextual clues: 

With [images of individual photographs] you get the frame cut off; you’re only 
looking at the photo. But the frame that is either gold or blue is cut out. I like 
the frame. I think it’s pretty. I think it’s a little something special that people 
might not think that it has color because these albums are really beautiful 
physically in their presentation. (P2, 13)

Other technical limitations of the digital surrogate include insufficient res-
olution for exploring details within the individual images, poor navigation and 
page-turning at the interface level, and inflexible tools for zooming, rotating, 
juxtaposing, and otherwise manipulating displayed images. These issues may be 
most relevant to the digitization of photograph albums, which present complex 
problems with the relationship of physical structure, intellectual integrity, and 
the representation of spatial hierarchy (volume, page, multiple images per item, 
arrangement of items, captions, other metadata, etc.) The issues that Participant 
2 raised about internal structure and navigation could well apply to other com-
plex information sources, particularly heterogeneous archives and manuscript 
collections that are not organized or bound by the conventions of publishing.

Privileging the surrogate over the source

Four participants had not consulted original photos and saw no need to 
do so for their particular projects. Participant 6’s projects, by definition, were 
limited to exploring collections of already digitized photographic archives; her 
role as assembler and editor did not require consultation with original resources. 
She relied on a contractually defined division of labor between researchers, who 
recommend the choice and sequencing of images, and book production spe-
cialists, who consult original source photographs to determine if publication 
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requires specialized reproductions. In a statement that demonstrates the repre-
sentational limitations of surrogacy in any form, Participant 6 noted that only 
the shape of the final product matters: 

I never really trust the online file until I see a proof, a printed proof. Because I 
work in the print medium, the screen lies no matter what it is. It’s just a total 
lie. And this [book] is a total lie too, but this is a lie I have to make perfect. We 
really worked on this to get these photos to look like this. They probably never 
looked so good when the photographer took them. (P6, 24)

The product developed by Participant 7 is an online database of digital 
images and metadata, whose only value is the verified content it contains. 
Verification, in this case, came not from the original source but rather from the 
evidential information transmitted by the surrogate’s context and the informa-
tion content detectible in the digital surrogate itself. Value that might be derived 
from the material properties uniquely embedded in the source photograph are, 
at best, of tertiary importance, after the visual evidence transmitted through the 
digital surrogate and the relevant contextual information written on the object 
or derived from the image itself. Even though Participant 7 was a leader in a 
vibrant community of researchers that also collect, trade, and sell original pho-
tographs, his perspective on archival photographs was decidedly nonmaterial. 

Participant 4, a professional photo researcher, relied on third-party assist-
ants to consult original items, passing on the costs of their efforts to clients. In 
his choice of photographs for a project, he typically privileged archival material 
that was fully available online or that was described well enough online that 
digital copies could be ordered from archives or libraries: 

Most projects you can cover what you need to without making a research trip 
because so much of it is online or things are available elsewhere or you find 
another way to illustrate it. (P 4, 15)

Participant 3, creating a dynamic website about the descendants of child 
laborers, was thrilled by the immediate tangible rewards of online research in 
the comfort of his home. For him, the technical characteristics of the digitized 
photo (e.g., varying resolution, image cropping, reverse polarity) typically played 
a secondary role in the decision to investigate a particular image. Knowledge 
about digitization parameters or postscan enhancement processes was not an 
important consideration, so long as the visual content of the image and its over-
all archival integrity were intact: “I think as long as the photograph does its job 
to draw you into it I can overlook a chopped off corner or crack in it or a tear in 
it” (P4, 15).

Participant 3 disdained any cropping of the original image in an online 
presentation: “The fact that you can see the borders around it indicates that  
the whole photograph is there. It’s very important for me to know the whole 
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photograph is there. Because there are a lot of things in that photograph that 
might be very important” (P3, 39).

Participant 1, who delved into the details of Civil War–era photography, 
used the digital surrogate as a mental placeholder that allows him to move flu-
idly between a discussion of the properties of the original photographic print 
and its representation in digital form. In discussing the photograph reproduced 
in Figure 5, he made note of the differences in the depiction of color and tone 
between a digital reproduction of a historical print versus the original glass-plate 
negative: 

In this case the print is what’s called a “Yellow Mount Anthony Card,” whereas 
what we are seeing is a scan of the negative. Now this is strictly black and 
white because that’s what you find on the negative. The print is sepia toned, 
that’s because it was printed on albumenized paper, yielded a brown-tone 
print. (P1, 34)

Users who work exclusively in the digital environment face a dilemma in 
attempting to identify visual truth. If the surrogate has questionable features, 

Figure 4.  One of the spinners in Whitnel Cotton Mfg. Co. N.C., 1908. Lewis Wickes Hine, 1874–1940. 
Photographic print from the records of the National Child Labor Committee, Library of Congress Prints and 
Photographs Division. Color digital file from black and white original print, available at http://hdl.loc.gov/
loc.pnp/nclc.01555.
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such as blemishes or partial blurring, the recourse is sometimes the least-worst 
option of rejecting the item in favor of one that may have less emotional power 
but greater visual clarity. Participant 6 described her logic of settling on an 
acceptable digital surrogate, referring to the photograph reproduced in Figure 6. 
The photo depicts prison convicts performing for the depression-era FSA pho-
tographer, Jack Delano.

For me I guess I don’t really know what the negative looks like so it’s a real 
quandary; how do I know for instance whether the negative, the print, or 
the digital scan is bad.… I tend to go just sort of with what I see and so I say 
to myself: “Gee, that doesn’t look like a very sharp image.” I often do decide 
on a sharper image over one that’s less sharp. If this is the only picture that 
I really thought was interesting, I would go into the file and I look at the file 
print to see if the print is clear and if it is I ask for a new scan from the camera 
negative. (P6, 27)

Balancing source and surrogate

Participant 5, writing a biography of photographer Russell Lee, had a very 
strong affinity for the material artifact and insisted on using and handling origi-
nal photographs and related archival materials. Neither the original photograph 
nor its digital surrogate was sufficient to meet her needs: 

Sometimes the digital is fine to use for research purposes. Sometimes you have 
to actually have the physical thing in front of you. Sometimes it’s a fine surro-
gate and sometimes it’s not. In a lot of ways the digital is far superior for min-
ing information, just because of the way that it is arranged. And that’s what I 
find is the ease of access to it; but sometimes the quality isn’t high enough and 
I can’t see and I have to actually go and look at a file print. (P5, 9) 

Speaking from her perspective as someone who had worked in an archives, 
she was skeptical of research that purports to be done only online: “What con-
cerns me is people who have never set foot in the reading room and they’ve writ-
ten an entire book about something as an expert” (P5, 15). Because Participant 
5’s approach involved iterative consultation of full-frame digitized negative and 
file prints, her expectations for the digital version were perhaps a bit lower than 
would be the case if she did not feel compelled to view original file prints: 

Well my view is that the scanned collection should be as close to a neutral 
presentation of the collection as it exists when digitized. This image that we 
are viewing is of a print that is sepia because it has aged. I know the original 
is gone. (P5, 34)
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And yet, given the preservation of the physical file prints, Participant 5 was 
comfortable with a digitization project that draws primarily from the negatives 
in full-frame view: 

Digitize the negatives; and if you want the tonal values of the file print go to 
the reading room. To me the digital versions are tools. That’s all this is for me 
is a tool. And it doesn’t tell the whole story. It tells a different story. (P5, 35)

Seeing Archives

Although only two of the participants in the study had experience or train-
ing as archivists, all participants saw collections of digitized archival photographs 
as possessing archival properties. As boundary objects, digitized photographs 
exist in an environment where the terms of their preservation and management 
endow them with levels of trust that may exceed trust in the properties of the 
original photographs themselves, which largely remain unseen and untouchable 
in cold storage.

Surrogates as archive

Participant 4, though not a trained archivist, had a sophisticated under-
standing that archives derive much of their value through secondary use—infor-
mation and evidence that serve purposes never intended by the creators: “One 
of the things that I think is really exciting about historical photographs is the 
unintended historical record as well as the intended one” (P4, 33). He found 
inspiration in the gaps in the archival record of depression-era photographers 
included in the Farm Security Administration collection: 

Some people criticize the FSA for not creating better documentation. There 
is plenty of documentation and the rest is up to us. If FSA photographers had 
taken scrupulous notes and we knew exactly who these people were, and they 
had done very methodological ethnographic field work along with this, there’s 
no project here and just no excitement. The archival record is like a joke, it’s 
about building the tension and then releasing it. Without the tension being 
built first there’s no excitement in tracking it down. (P 4, 37) 

As with the blues singers that he pursued for a book, Participant 4 saw accu-
mulated archival value through the difficulties that archives endure through a 
record’s life cycle. “A lot of stuff has to have a risky life before it gets archived. 
Life has to be life first and often stuff has to go through a period of worthlessness 
before it becomes worth saving” (P4, 37). 

The example that best illustrates Participant 4’s point about “unintended 
history” is a photo sequence, partly depicted in Figure 7, of a street scene in 
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Mississippi that yields, on close inspection, the image of a street musician draw-
ing a crowd that dissipates over time: 

I picked up on this guy and he’s playing a guitar, Spanish style because it’s a 
metal guitar and he’s got the hat. Playing on the street for downtown crowds 
for change is a really core thing for blues musicians. I’ve never seen an actual 
photograph or any visual representation of that situation and here is one. All 
the more remarkable because it was created by Marion Post Wolcott, who was 
just photographing the downtown of a cotton town. Ultimately that’s a very 
cool factor of the FSA; they were good photographers who shot things in the 
right way. (P4, 40)  

Figure 7 shows part of the sequence. The street musician is not visible 
until the crowd parts, is not named in the caption, and so was not recorded in 
Wolcott’s field notes. This story illustrates the importance of the immediate asso-
ciational context of archival arrangement in determining the value of individual 
items. The archival context is clearly discernable in the digital surrogates. 

Participant 2 considered the individual images as parts of a whole that 
emerges through reconstruction. Her efforts to plot the creation of individual 
photographs were explicitly geospatial and temporal in character: 

The sequencing of images in the album shows their movement from say the 
city in Southern Kazakhstan, and then they move to the next city and they 
take photographs, and then move to the next city, and it’s literally spatial 
movement along an itinerary that was military lined. (P2, 33)

Figure 5.  Professor Lowe inflating balloon Intrepid to reconnoiter Battle of Fair Oaks, 1862. Stereograph from 
Brady’s Album Gallery, 423, PR-065-806-3, from Civil War Stereographs, New-York Historical Society.  Digital ID 
nhnycw/ad ad36003, available at http://memory.loc.gov/cgi-bin/query/D?cwnyhs:1:./temp/~ammem_atxR.
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Her contextualization of the archival record over space and time turns on 
the type of detective work that is a common feature of contemporary rephotog-
raphy, which is the practice photographing the same scene at two points in time, 
popularly referred to as “then and now” photography. Participant 2 asserted that 
rephotography was a factor in the expression of colonial power by the Russian 
occupiers. In the interview, Participant 2 showed two digital images of photo-
graphs taken roughly eight or nine years apart (ca. 1864 to 1872) and published 
in two separate photographic albums:

All these buildings right here which are half completed have been white 
washed and this is a sign of Russian military occupation so they’ve turned 
into barracks and administrative zones. (P2, 35) 

Figure 6.  In the convict camp in Greene County, Georgia, 1941. Jack Delano, 1914-1997, photographer. 
Nitrate negative, Farm Security Administration--Office of War Information Photograph Collection, Library 
of Congress Prints and Photographs Division. Digital file from original negative, available at http://hdl.loc.
gov/loc.pnp/fsa.8c29075.
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In this example, Participant 2 used contemporary Russian photography of the 
same scene over time to reinforce the image of their control of the area. “No, I 
think the Russians had an agenda to show the difference, to go ‘Veni, Vidi, Vici’.… 
These two photos were both taken by Russian military officers” (P2, 35).

Digital surrogates in an archival context

Participant 1 described the ways in which he found new connections 
between and among photographs previously considered separately as unrelated. 
He constructed a visual and verbal narrative from apparently discrete visual ele-
ments by reconstructing the original order of the photographic record as it was 
created. Participant 1, who was not a trained archivist and expressed little inter-
est in or knowledge of archival practices, displayed a nuanced view of archival 
photographs as traces of prior activity, in the way that Jeffrey Mifflin describes,46 
in which the activity and not the mediated image-making is of greatest interest. 
Participant 1 relayed a story concerning a sequence of images from 1863 that 
portrays a scene across the Rappahannock River near Fredericksburg, Virginia: 

All of these photos have been published elsewhere but I’m the first to put 
them altogether in one sequence showing actually the evolution of the bat-
tle from the front: basically a clear horizon; then smoke all along the front; 
the second battle of Fredericksburg; and then the whole city basically being 
obscured by smoke; and finally these two guys are watching the battle [from 
a tree top]. (P1, 23–24)

Discovery of new evidence to support an emerging story is a classic example 
of how evidential and informational values in archives converge to reveal a previ-
ously hidden truth. In this way, Participant 1 enacted thought processes similar 
to those academic historians use to assemble new knowledge from a combina-
tion of the information in archival records and the spaces between them.

Participant 5’s work on FSA photographer Russell Lee led her to contextual-
ize the photographer’s output through reference to the surviving archival record 
of his work and that of his FSA associates: 

And then after I got through reading through all the correspondence I thought, 
“I can reconstruct exactly where he was every single month that he worked 
for the FSA.” From the captions, this is what he was photographing, from 
the correspondence, this is what he was writing, and this is where he was. 
In putting the three of them together I was able to construct his working 
methods. (P5, 20)

Participant 5’s archival research did not stop with absorbing archival evi-
dence, but extended to mapping the photographer’s field work: 
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So I got a 1930s atlas and I highlighted every place that he went. This is a map 
of Iowa. He went from there, there, there, there, then he went back to here 
then he went back to Illinois. I don’t think you could get more contextualiza-
tion than what I’ve done. (P5, 21)

Participant 3 applied well-proven and sophisticated methods of genealogi-
cal research to confirm the identities of children in Lewis Hine’s photographs 
and then track down their descendants to report his findings: 

The first child that I identified I found in the death records and then I got an 
obituary and a photograph of another girl, unidentified by Hine. In Gastonia, 
NC, I found a nephew, and the girl Hine identified never got married, so I was 
able to find her death records pretty quickly. (P3, 16) 

Participant 4 also searched for the people depicted in digitized photographs 
that interested him. Referring to a child depicted in a classic depression-era pho-
tograph by Dorothea Lange (see Figure 8), Participant 4 remarked: 

Yeah I found this mandolin player, this kid, he’s now in his 70s, and I tracked 
him down. I asked him if he remembered meeting Dorothea Lange and being 
photographed by her and he said: “Well we had our picture taken in tents a 
lot back then.” At the time, the FSA used Lange’s photographs to tell a story of 
depression era heroism and the common man and all that and his take on it 
was: “We had our pictures taken in tents a lot back then.” (P4, 36) 

From the perspective of experienced users, the archival nature of origi-
nal photographic records transfers to digital surrogates with little or no loss of 

Figure 7.  Main Street on Saturday afternoon, Belzoni, Mississippi, 1939. Marion Post Wolcott, 1910-
1990, photographer. Black and white nitrate negative, 35 mm, Farm Security Administration -- Office of 
War Information Photograph Collection, Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division LC-USF33-
030592-M1. Digital file from original negative, available at http://hdl.loc.gov/loc.pnp/fsa.8a41181.
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value. Participant 3 referred to his choice of people to investigate in part because 
of readily available archival records in digital form: 

North Carolina and South Carolina and Maine have particularly good digital 
files on the Internet. It so happens that a great number of Hine photographs 
were taken in those three states as well, which is lucky. I tend to not favor 
Maryland, because they have almost nothing available. (P3, 22) 

Participant 4 adjusted his research strategy to maximize the use of online 
resources: “I’m happy with what’s online and if it’s not online I just try to work 
around it.” (P4, 15)

Trust in digital archives

The trust that experienced users have in the digitized photographs that 
they use is based upon a complex mix of respect for the Library of Congress as 
an effective agent of cultural heritage preservation and accumulated evidence 
that its digitization processes are reliable and trustworthy. Participant 3 placed 
significant trust in the Library of Congress as an organization that delivers trust-
worthy digital information, and he therefore did not much question the quality 
and trustworthiness of individual digitized photographs. He based his trust at 
the organizational level on his consistently positive experience in obtaining rel-
evant, useful, and technically appropriate surrogates delivered through the tools 
of the Library of Congress’s digitization program (P3, 28). In the absence of fail-
ure, disappointment, inadequacy, or other violations of good faith, trust ascends 
to the organizational level and, as a consequence, pervades the resources deliv-
ered digitally. 

Participant 1’s trust in the archival nature of the individual digitized pho-
tographs derived from the comprehensiveness and completeness of the digital 
collection: 

I mean they put some horrible stuff up online. I mean it could be cracked 
into seven different pieces (and they did break them, a handful of them over 
the last thirty years) and every time they broke one they put each individual 
shard of glass in its own separate envelope and they reassembled that thing 
like a puzzle on the flatbed scanner. So I totally trust that they’re showing me 
everything, 100 percent of what they got. (P1, 45) 

Participant 1’s confidence derived less from a technical knowledge of digitization 
processes, or even from assurances provided by the Library of Congress itself, but 
rather from his detailed and painstaking comparison of the numbering system 
in nineteenth-century photograph sales catalogs produced by Civil War photog-
raphers to market their products with the numbering system applied to the dig-
ital surrogates delivered through American Memory. Participant 1 related a long 
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and detailed story about his discovery that the Gardner photo sales catalog from 
the 1880s actually lists Gardner and Anthony images in a meaningful sequence. 
The importance of this discovery for Participant 1 was not simply in tracking 
the creation of the original negatives but in cross referencing items from the 
original catalog into the numbering system that the Library of Congress retained 
for its images (P1, 55). 

Participant 4 found great value in the power of the numbering sequences 
that the Farm Security Administration assigned to the negatives after receiv-
ing them from photographers in the field and developing them in Washington, 
D.C., laboratories. This important contextual metadata is the foundation of an 
online context-oriented browsing system for the FSA/OWI collection.47 According 
to Participant 4, 

It’s not an arbitrary assignment of call numbers that you’re calling up here. 
Sometimes [the real value] is not a matter of digitizing, it’s a matter of the 
assigned frame numbers. This is huge. Once you tap into this online browsing 
system, you get the social context of what’s going on all around them and you 
get information of how the photographer traveled. Sometimes it’s implicit 
and it needs to be checked against other things, because the sequence isn’t 
perfect. (P4, 27)

Figure 9 is the sequence of digital images to which Participant 4 referred. 
The image in the center of the strip is well known and published in depression-
era anthologies. The surrounding images provide the social context of the scene, 
which the archival context of the numbering system validates, providing a con-
text-sensitive access not provided by caption-specific metadata. This sequence 
of thumbnail images represents the full power of the photographic archive. The 
archival nature is preserved and transmitted through the tools for displaying 
contextually related items. 

Derived in part from the preservation mission of the Library of Congress, 
Participant 4’s trust in the library’s digitization standards and best practices freed 
him to focus on visual content and the context of original image production: 

These scans are pretty good. A lot of this is just that the Library has excellent 
standards and I trust them; and if it were important to me I could know about 
what the particulars are, but it doesn’t matter to me in this case and it doesn’t 
matter to me in most cases.… But the truth is that the Library of Congress does 
everything exquisitely well and they do it far better than I would or I would 
know to ask, so I just trust it. (P4, 28)
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Discussion and Implications for  
Theory and Practice 

Two theories not widely explored in the archival literature ground the 
research reported here. Mitchell’s particular take on representation, derived 
from his mastery of literary critical theory, locates the building of large dig-
ital collections through digitization as communication between digitizer and 
viewer. Bolter and Grusin, informed by the constant churning of new represen-
tational media, provide a perspective that allows for the transfer of material-
ity from analog photographs to digital surrogates. Both theories recognize the 
loss of tangible information through representation and remediation; yet such 
loss may not necessarily equate to diminished value or weakening of the emo-
tional aura of the original source—especially in the case of photographs that are 

Figure 8.  Migrant Family from Arkansas playing hill-billy songs, Calipatria, California, 1939. Dorothea 
Lange, 1895–1965, photographer. Black and white nitrate negative, Farm Security Administration--Office 
of War Information Photograph Collection, Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division. Digital file 
from intermediary roll film, available at http://hdl.loc.gov/loc.pnp/fsa.8b33352.
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grounded in particularly resonant historical events such as the Civil War, the 
Great Depression, or the colonization of Central Asia. Even in the popular case 
of American baseball, the joy of discovering a previously unrecognized player 
closes the gap between analog and digital. 

People who are deeply experienced with the product-based use of digitized 
photographic archives are, this study suggests, passionate about the value that 
digitization of photographic archives adds to the experience of discovering new 
facts hidden in images, telling new stories about the past, and reconstructing a 
landscape of meaning that exists beyond the border of individual pictures. The 
seven participants in the study embrace the power of digital surrogacy to con-
vey meaning on multiple levels. As images, the digitized photographic archives 
from the Library of Congress rarely fail to convey the visual content required 
to fulfill the purposes expected of them. In the majority of cases, the power of 
the visual image, represented as a digital bitmap and mediated through some-
times marginal computer screen technologies, transcends the limitations of the 
original media. If the composition is right, experienced users find inspiration 
and emotional resonance in digital representations of underexposed negatives, 
high-contrast preservation film, and broken, brittle, or faded prints. 

Each of the participants in the study brings to the use of digitized photo-
graphic archives a particular vision regarding the scope, structure, and compo-
sition of a final product, even if the forms of the products are as diverse as a 
static website, a university press published book, or a Web-accessible database. 
Such purpose- or goal-driven inquiry tends to focus attention on the visual and 
material properties of the surrogates already identified for possible use, rather 
than on the strengths or limitations of the search and retrieval system itself. 
None of the participants in the study judge the value of the digital archive in 
terms of the capabilities of the delivery system. Research that focuses primarily 
on system capabilities, including interface design and search/retrieval tools, may 
miss the opportunity to understand end-user behavior with digital content itself. 
This study opens the door to a deeper investigation of the quality of digitized 
photographic archives. Such an investigation must be carried out through a 
comparison of a variety of digitization processes and delivery systems. 

For experienced users who are motivated by passion for the discovery proc-
ess itself, time and effort are the currency of success. Without exception, each 
of these participants is willing to make a significant investment in a personal 
information management system that is capable of overcoming limitations in 
the labeling or numbering of individual items.48 Experienced users are enthu-
siastically capable of tapping the navigational power of original numbering or 
cataloging schemes imposed on the original photographs by the agencies for 
whom the photographers worked, or by the publishers that established mean-
ingful order well after the original events were recorded. Few found any value 
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in the subject catalog terms assigned by librarians. It is possible that expertise 
and experience, combined with a deep engagement with producing a tangible 
product, obviates the value of subject classification. Future studies of the actual 
use of digitized photographs should explore the role played by subject classifica-
tion of individual items in augmenting the user experience. 

As a qualitative exploration of user perspectives on the digitized photo-
graphic archive, this research lays the groundwork for a quantitatively grounded 
study of end-user behavior. It suggests that there is much to be learned about the 
actual use of digitized photographs by people with a variety of product orienta-
tions. The field of view that experienced users bring to their work (detail, full 
frame, beyond the frame) drives their expectations for the technical character-
istics of the digital surrogate. Not every user expects or will demand ultrahigh 
resolution, but those who do will be satisfied only with full information capture. 
Not every user expects or demands a browsing or navigation system that rep-
resents completely the relationships among discrete photographic objects, but 
those who do will find new meaning in context-sensitive search and discovery. 
The distribution of user expectations for detail, data, and use-tools in the gen-
eral population of users can only be determined from large-scale user studies. 
Research that investigates the actual use of archival photographs in products 
that are distributed in print and online will effectively measure the impact of 
archives beyond research and learning that happens in the archives itself. 

Figure 9 a–e.  Jeeter Gentry, Elmer Thompson and Fiddlin’ Bill Hensley, Asheville, NC, 1937. Ben Shahn, 
1898-1969, photographer. Black and white 35 mm nitrate negatives, Farm Security Administration--Office 
of War Information Photograph Collection, Library of Congress Prints and Photographs Division. Digital file 
from intermediary roll film, available at http://hdl.loc.gov/loc.pnp/fsa.8a17159.
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By design, this research project engaged experienced users of digitized pho-
tographs, each of whom pursued his or her work in the context of a specific 
project. Interviews that focus on the intersection of product and process may 
generate greater insight into the uses of archival photographs than do those that 
focus on the occupational status or organizational affiliation of the users. In the 
environment of expert or experienced use of digitized archives, academically 
oriented researchers are no more likely to make sophisticated and high-impact 
use of digitized photographs than are researchers whose avocation leads them 
to adopt advanced genealogical research techniques or contract researchers who 
use ethnographic inquiry as a method for assembling a story line. This research 
demonstrates that the purpose or product of a researcher’s work determines 
the fit of the sources to a far greater extent than do the technical characteristics 
of the digital surrogates themselves. For digitization practice, this research sug-
gests the need for far greater flexibility in specifying digitization procedures than 
is currently the case. Efforts to advance digitization best practices in archives 
should look well beyond technical specifications to understand the rich variety 
of expectations that experienced users place on digital surrogates. 

As presented in the literature, archival theory often reads to even the most 
experienced and capable archivists as excessively abstract. Archivists may some-
times find it difficult to grasp the relevance of archival theory to the manage-
ment of archival programs or to detect the motivations of those proposing new 
ideas. Perhaps some of this disconnect between theory and practice originates 
in the seemingly mysterious nature of theory development itself. Anne Gilliland 
and Sue McKemmish focus on this issue, writing that “although the archival 
literature has been replete for many decades with expository and discursive writ-
ings on the nature of archival theory and how it can or cannot be distinguished 
from praxis, little critical attention has been paid until recently to how archival 
theory has been, or should be built.”49 The research presented here is an explora-
tion of how a new theory of the use of archives—modes of seeing—might emerge 
from in-depth engagement with experienced users. Their testimony, though not 
couched in the language of archival principles, shows that people who depend 
on digitized photograph archives for their livelihood or as a way of engaging in 
shared, community-driven historical learning can see the archive that thrives 
digitally through and beyond the screen. 
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Appendix 1: Interview Protocol 

	 I.	 Introductions
Brief background on the project to date•	
Equipment setup and consent form•	
Outline of interview and methodology•	

II.	 Visual Intelligence and Expertise
Origins of interest in photography—general and specific•	

•	 Describe your own expertise as you see it
•	 Varying areas of expertise
•	 Acquiring your expertise
Looking at photographs  and digital surrogates—material charac-•	
teristics (See diagram)

•	 Looking at digital photographs—your methods
•	 Specialized knowledge beyond materiality
•	 Technology tools
•	 Your working and viewing environment
•	 Online and print and original
Other people you know and work with who are experts in your •	
area

	 III.	 Decision Making on Your Project
Origins of the project•	
How did the project evolve? •	
Your specific tasks in producing the product•	
Walk me through a general scenario from search to decision to use •	
a photograph

	 IV.	 Choosing and Using Individual Photographs—As Many Examples  
		  as Feasible

Discussion of the•	  visual content of the photograph itself.
•	 Discussion of decision making criteria for choosing to use the 

photograph. (See quality factors sheet)
•	 Importance of various types of cues
Discussion of •	 technical aspects of the digitized photo. (See rating 
sheet)

	 V.	 Library of Congress Digital Image Collections
The relative importance of Library of Congress collections to the •	
project
Your relationship with library, its collections, and staff•	
American Memory—pros and cons from your perspective•	
Prints and Photos Division—pros and cons from your perspective•	
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Searching for images—LC tools and others•	

	 VI.	 Interview Conclusion
Loose ends and important issues not yet discussed•	
Next steps in the research project•	
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